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Dear Colleague: 
 
 Since I was entrusted with the Chairmanship of the Select Subcommittee on the 
Coronavirus Pandemic, we have been dutifully living up to our charter and bringing 
accountability and transparency to the American people. This interim staff report, the second in 
our series, seeks to provide evidence and information regarding the government’s funding and 
lack of oversight of gain-of-function research, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., and the Wuhan Institute 
of Virology.  
 
 The Select Subcommittee has conducted the most thorough investigation into this topic to 
date. Without the support of the American people, these efforts would not have been possible.  
 
 The below report provides extensive evidence, including firsthand testimony and primary 
source documents. It is clear that EcoHealth and its President, Dr. Peter Daszak, acted with 
contempt for the American people. Further, EcoHealth’s actions were often enabled by the 
incompetency of the National Institutes of Health and National Institute of Allergy and Infectious 
Diseases. It is this contempt and incompetence that necessitates both Congressional and 
Administrative action.  
 
 In addition to other specific actions, the Select Subcommittee is making two primary 
recommendations, one to the Congress and one to the Administration: 
 

1) To the Congress: Reign in the unelected bureaucracy, especially within government 
funded public health. NIH and NIAID are no longer the trusted preeminent scientific 
institutions they once were. It is imperative upon us to establish more stringent 
guardrails, higher standards of oversight, and limit adversarial interference in our grant 
making processes.  
 

2) To the Administration: Recognize EcoHealth and its President, Dr. Daszak, as bad actors. 
This investigation establishes neither can be trusted with taxpayer funds. It is imperative 
upon the Administration to immediately begin suspension and debarment proceedings 
and ensure neither EcoHealth nor Dr. Daszak are awarded another cent, especially for 
dangerous and poorly monitored research. 

 
 Pursuant to H. Res. 5, please use this report as a resource while developing continuing 
legislative solutions to ensure safe and effective research, good stewardship of taxpayer dollars, 
and a more accountable bureaucracy. 
  
     Sincerely,  
 
 
          
     Brad Wenstrup, D.P.M. 
     Chairman  
     Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Since April 2020, House Republicans have been investigating the origins of SARS-CoV-
2, the virus that caused the COVID-19 pandemic. This includes investigating the U.S. 
government’s funding and approving gain-of-function research, as well as the NIH and NIAID 
grant oversight process. This report examines these processes by analyzing NIAID grant, 
R01AI110964 – “Understanding the Risk of Bat Coronavirus Emergence,” awarded to 
EcoHealth and the corresponding compliance actions taken against it by NIH.  

 
During this investigation, the Select Subcommittee has reviewed more than one million 

pages of documents and interviewed more than a dozen fact witnesses. This work established the 
evidence to support five interim findings. 
 
Finding 1: EcoHealth submitted its Year 5 Report nearly two years late. Further, EcoHealth’s 

claim that it was locked out of an NIH system and blocked from submitting the 
report on time is not supported by the evidence.  

 
Finding 2: EcoHealth violated its grant terms and conditions by failing to report a potentially 

dangerous experiment conducted by the WIV. 
 
Finding 3: EcoHealth used taxpayer dollars to facilitate gain-of-function research on 

coronaviruses in Wuhan at the WIV, contrary to previous public statements, 
including those by Dr. Anthony Fauci. 

 
Finding 4: NIH may not have known about EcoHealth’s actions without proper intervention 

by former-President Donald Trump and former-White House Chief of Staff Mark 
Meadows. Further, despite suggestions of political persecution against EcoHealth, 
career NIH leadership supported every compliance action taken.  

 
Finding 5: While negotiating the reinstatement of the grant, Dr. Daszak omitted the material 

fact that unanalyzed samples and sequences—that the U.S. paid for—are in the 
custody and control of the WIV. This omission was taken as fact by NIAID and 
NIAID took no steps to verify the actual location of the sequences and samples. If 
Dr. Daszak had not made this omission it would have provoked questions from 
NIAID regarding EcoHealth’s ability to fulfill the aims of the reinstated grant. 
Finally, as a result of Dr. Daszak affirmations, NIH is currently violating the terms 
of the debarment of the WIV. 

 
 Again, based on the evidence collected by the Select Subcommittee, there are serious and 
systemic weaknesses in the federal government’s—particularly NIH’s—grant making processes. 
The weaknesses identified by the Committees not only place United States taxpayer dollars at 
risk of waste, fraud, and abuse but also risk the national security of the United States. These 
weaknesses can only be remedied through both executive and legislative action.  
 
 The facts contained in this report necessitate action. It is because of this investigation that 
the Select Subcommittee believes EcoHealth is not a good steward of U.S. taxpayer dollars. For 
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this reason, the Select Subcommittee is recommending NIH recommend and HHS immediately 
commence suspension and debarment proceedings against both EcoHealth and Dr. Daszak.  
 

The Select Subcommittee will continue to evaluate the federal government’s funding of 
gain-of-function research, the associated guardrails, and if sufficient care and oversight exists. 
This continued effort includes the evidence surrounding NIAID’s deliberations regarding 
EcoHealth’s research and the application of various policies and procedures.  
 

Finally, the Select Subcommittee continues to be obstructed by pertinent custodians, 
including HHS and EcoHealth. The actions of these entities are unjustified and will not be 
tolerated.  
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ANNUAL REPORTING 
 
 During the life cycle of a grant, the principal investigator must provide annual reports, 
known as Research Performance Progress Reports (RPPR), to its funding agency.1 These reports 
provide the funding agency with updates on the progress of the work funded by the grant and any 
anticipated changes in the research approach or direction going into the next funding year. In the 
case of EcoHealth, these reports, especially its Year Five RPPR, have come under scrutiny from 
the NIH Office of Extramural Research and the Committees’ investigation. 
 
 EcoHealth’s Year 5 RPPR [hereinafter “Year 5 Report’] was due September 30, 2019. 
However, the report was not submitted until August 3, 2021—nearly two years late.2 This failure 
was first reported to Congress via an October 20, 2021 letter from Dr. Tabak to then Ranking 
Member of the Committee on Oversight and Reform James Comer.3  
 
Finding 1: EcoHealth submitted its Year 5 Report nearly two years late. Further, EcoHealth’s 

claim that it was locked out of an NIH system and blocked from submitting the 
report on time is not supported by the evidence.  

 
I. EcoHealth Submitted Its Year 5 Report Nearly Two Years Late.  

 
Each year, regardless of whether a grant is being evaluated for a competitive renewal, the 

principal investigator must submit an annual progress report. As stated above, EcoHealth’s Year 
5 Report—the report that included the results of research and experiments for June 2018 through 
May 2019, the time period immediately preceding the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic—
was due September 30, 2019. However, EcoHealth submitted this report nearly two years later 
on August 3, 2021.  

 
For project years one through four, Dr. Daszak, in addition to submitting the annual 

report via the NIH online reporting system, would routinely also send it via e-mail to his 
program officer, Dr. Stemmy. The Committees are in possession of these e-mails for reporting 
years one, two, and four:  
 

1) On May 1, 2015, Dr. Daszak emailed Dr. Stemmy the Year 1 RPPR stating, “[w]e just 
uploaded our Y1 Report for our Understanding the Risk of Bat Coronavirus Emergence 
award (1R01AI110964-01). I wanted to send you a copy of the report as well.”4 

 

 
1 Research Performance Progress Report (RPPR), Nat’l Insts. of Health (last updated Nov. 2, 2022) (last accessed 
Apr. 24, 2024).  
2 Understanding the Risk of Bat Coronavirus Emergence, RPPR (Aug. 3, 2021).  
3 Letter from Lawrence Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D., Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Hon. James Comer, 
Ranking Member, H. Comm. on Oversight & Reform (Oct. 20, 2021).  
4 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Erik Stemmy, et. al., Ph.D., Program 
Officer, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (May 1, 2015) (On file with Select 
Subcomm. Staff).  
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2) On May 13, 2016, Dr. Daszak emailed Dr. Stemmy the Year 2 RPPR stating, “I just 
wanted to let you know that we submitted our Year 2 Report yesterday (attached as 
pdf).”5 
 

3) On April 25, 2018, Dr. Daszak emailed Dr. Stemmy the Year 4 RPPR stating, “I just 
wanted to send you a pdf of our Year 4 Report which I submitted last week.”6 

 
When asked why he did not continue this pattern for the Year 5 Report, Dr. Daszak testified:  
 

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 13, 2023)  
 
Q. Okay. And I think we had seen in, I think at least 1 year prior, maybe 

year 4, a practice of submitting the annual report through the 
Commons system –  

 
A. Yeah.  
 
Q.  -- of course the way that it's submitted?  
 
A.  Yeah.  
 
Q.  And then separately from that, emailing it over to your grants office? 
 
A.  Yeah. I remember doing that a couple of times, yeah.  
 
Q.  Did that happen here? 
 
A.  No, unfortunately. I wish I'd done that. I didn't do it. You know, it's 

unfortunate.7 
 
 Dr. Stemmy was the NIAID official responsible for tracking and ensuring EcoHealth’s 
progress reports were submitted on time. According to Dr. Stemmy, Dr. Daszak did not send an 
e-mail with the Year 5 Report until Dr. Daszak officially submitted it August 3, 2021. Dr. 
Stemmy testified:  
 

Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023) 
 

 
5 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Erik Stemmy, et. al., Ph.D., Program 
Officer, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (May 13, 2016) (On file with Select 
Subcomm. Staff). 
6 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Erik Stemmy, et. al., Ph.D., Program 
Officer, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Apr. 25, 2018) (On file with Select 
Subcomm. Staff). 
7 Transcribed Interview of Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., at 51-52 (Nov. 14, 2023) 
(hereinafter “Daszak TI”).  
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Q. So this is minority exhibit G. It is the year 4 progress report along 
with the sort of cover email from Dr. Daszak to you in April 25th, 
2018. So we have this email attaching the year 4 report where he's 
going outside of the eRA Commons system to sort of personally 
hand you a copy of what he's up to. They had the big success with 
SADS and some other notable events.  

 
Did he do this for year 5? 
  

A. I believe he sent me an email in -- contemporaneous with when he 
submitted the progress report in 2021, I believe that August, right? 
Is that when that one came in? So I believe he copied me on a 
message then, but not around the time that it would have been due.8 

 
Dr. Daszak also testified that “the information from the Year 5 Report was in the 

resubmitted - - [year 6 competitive] renewal submission, in the first part of that renewal 
submission.”9 Specifically, he testified: 
 

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023) 
 
Q.  Could I ask –  
 
A.  But -- yeah, go ahead, go ahead.  
 
Q.  Could I ask why not, in other words, it seems as if there was a 

knowledge that you can always just attach the PDF to the email and 
send it over to Erik Stemmy. 

  
A.  Yeah. 
 
Q.  We're struggling, I think, a little bit to understand why that would 

not have occurred here. 
 
A.  Well, you know, one, it's me second-guessing my decisions 4 years 

ago, but one reason why there's less concern is, the information from 
the year 5 report was in the resubmitted -- the renewal submission, 
in the first part of that renewal submission. We had information of 
relevance to the work we were doing in China in that submission. 
So Erik Stemmy, the program officer, had seen that, without a doubt. 
That was part of his job to read that proposal.10 

 
 

 
8 Transcribed Interview of Erik Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l 
Insts. of Health, at 142 (Nov. 13, 2023) (hereinafter “Stemmy TI”). 
9Daszak TI, supra note 7, at 52.  
10 Id. 
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This sentiment was reiterated by multiple witnesses throughout the inquiry. However, 
after a review of the Year 6 competitive renewal, the Select Subcommittee does not believe the 
experiment in question in the Year 5 Report was in the renewal application. Regardless, simply 
because there is a renewal application, does not exempt EcoHealth from following the terms of 
its grant and submitting its Year 5 Report on time. As multiple NIH witnesses testified, the Year 5 
Report is still due on time regardless of the competitive renewal application. For Example, Dr. 
Stemmy testified:  
 

Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023) 
 
Q. If a grant is suspended or terminated, does the prime awardee still 

have to complete the requirements under the grant -- administrative 
requirements? 

  
HHS. If you know.  
 
A. So my understanding is that this was a unique situation. I do recall 

that, when they came up for their first annual progress report, I 
believe the 07, they reached out to grants management to ask what 
they should submit. So I believe they still have to submit something, 
but, in essence, it was a paper that said, "This grant is terminated," 
and no action has been undertaken.   

 
Q. No. I'm saying -- so the grant that was suspended was the renewal, 

the type 2, right? But they hadn't completed all the requirements on 
the type 1 prior to having the funding for the type 2. 

 
A. Correct. 
  
Q. If the type 2 is suspended, does it just waive their requirements to 

complete the type 1? 
 
A. No.11 

  
II. EcoHealth’s Claim That It Was Blocked By The NIH From Submitting The Year 

5 Report On Time Is Not Supported By The Evidence.  
 

As an excuse for why EcoHealth’s Year 5 Report was late, Dr. Daszak testified that he 
attempted to submit it but was “locked out” by the NIH system. This testimony does not stand up 
to further scrutiny. Dr. Lauer and NIH ran a forensic audit across their systems to attempt to 
confirm Dr. Daszak’s claim, however, NIH could not verify the claim.  

 

 
11 Stemmy TI, supra note 8, at 140-141. 



9 
 

The Select Subcommittee does not find EcoHealth’s explanation for the delayed 
submission to be credible or consistent with testimony and documents produced during this 
investigation. EcoHealth asserted that it attempted to submit the Year 5 Report before the 
deadline of September 30, 2019 but the NIH’s eReporter system, which is an online portal used 
by investigators to submit required grants documentation to NIH, would not allow them to 
upload the report because funding for year six of the grant, the first year of its renewal period, 
had already been released.  

 
Dr. Daszak also testified to the Select Subcommittee that EcoHealth contacted NIH 

technical support and their grant management officer in an effort to resolve the problem, but 
that—to his recollection—there was no email communication between NIH, NIAID, or 
EcoHealth regarding the inability to submit the Year 5 Report. Dr. Daszak further testified that he 
did not attempt to contact the relevant grant officer, Dr. Stemmy. After attempts to contact NIH 
and NIAID by phone failed, Dr. Daszak informed the Select Subcommittee that he assumed the 
report was unnecessary as NIH continued to disburse funding. 

 
Dr. Lauer testified:  

 
Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023) 
 
Q. Okay. Oh, I meant to -- I had one other question on this late year-

five report. You said earlier to somebody's questioning today that 
you were not convinced that EcoHealth -- EcoHealth sent a product. 
They had a submission. They were trying to submit it in July 2019, 
and they experienced a lockout. They were locked out of the eRA 
Commons system, and they weren't able to do it. Now, you said you 
were not convinced. So could you explain why you were of that 
view? 

  
A. Yeah. So our office did an electronic forensic investigation of 

EcoHealth's encounters with our grant system, and that included 
both looking at activity logs. Every time that anyone interacts with 
our system, there is an activity log that describes when they came 
in, who came in, what actually happened. And it also involved our 
help desk ticket. So we have a help desk. And so whenever 
somebody calls in and says, "I am having problems with the 
system," that encounter that they have with our staff is recorded. We 
never found any evidence that they had been locked out of our 
system. We did see that on one day somebody from EcoHealth had 
attempted to log in through one -- you can log into our system in 
multiple different ways. And they had attempted to log in in one way 
and had entered the wrong password, I think, three times. And so 
that particular channel did get blocked. But then, on the very same 
day, later they were interacting with our system having logged in 
through a different route. And then we looked at the help desk 
tickets, we also looked at emails with NIAID staff, and we never 
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saw any evidence that they claimed that they were unable to submit 
their progress report because the eRA system had locked them out. 

 
Q. Okay. And if it had locked them out, weren't there other ways they 

could have gotten the report into NIH if they had called somebody? 
 
A. If they were unable to submit any document because they had been 

locked out of the system, then what they would do is they could call 
up our help desk, and then our help desk would work with them to 
figure out what was going on.12 

  
 In response to Dr. Lauer’s testimony, Dr. Daszak deflected by stating that both the facts 
that Dr. Lauer’s forensic investigation failed to find evidence supporting Dr. Daszak’s claim, and 
his underlying claim can both be true. Dr. Daszak testified: 
 

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023) 
 
Q. So I'm going to show you what's going to be majority exhibit No. 5. 

This is an excerpt of a transcribed interview with Dr. Lauer that the 
committees took earlier this month. So we asked Dr. Lauer what, as 
part of his compliance review of the grant, what steps he did to look 
into this lockout issue…So we plan to ask for that, the results of that 
forensic audit. But, again, wanted to get your impression as to how 
correct that is.  

 
A.  It's absolutely possible. What Dr. Lauer says there is true and what 

I'm saying to you is true. It can be true that there is, as he states, 
there's no evidence of us contacting the help desk and getting a help 
desk ticket because we maybe didn't do that. We contacted the grants 
officer. It can also be true that Dr. Lauer doesn't have any evidence 
that we'd been locked out of the system and that we were locked out 
of the system. Just because he can't find evidence of that doesn't 
mean it's not true. We were locked out of the system. Not only were 
we locked out of the system then, when Dr. Lauer wrote to us 
demanding that we immediately send the year 5 report and upload it 
into the system, NIH couldn't get the system to work for 11 days. 
We have it on record. And that's how we did keep email. So look, 
Dr. Lauer is a very senior manager at NIH. I'm sure that it's logical 
to him that someone would go to the help desk. But we had a direct 
point of contact in charge of grants management who never 
responded to us by phone. All we can do is try. And if NIH was 
unable to, even when they demanded the report 2 years later, they 
were unable to unlock the system for a number of days, it was clearly 
locked.  

 
12 Transcribed Interview of Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir., Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, at 102-103 
(Nov. 2, 2023) (hereinafter “Lauer TI”).  
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Q. Sure. I'm just giving you the opportunity to comment on his [sic]. 

And we don't have the forensic audit so we don't have a firm idea of 
the scope.  

 
A. Well, if the forensic audit tests whether we got a help desk ticket or 

assesses whether we tried to log into a system or assesses whether 
we sent an email, then maybe the forensic audit won't find that. But 
we tried to upload that report. We even tried when NIH told us 2 
years later immediately send it and we weren't able to. The system 
locked us out. It's a fact. 

 
Q. You said that you had emailed your point of contact at NIAID or 

NIH to try to rectify the situation, right?  
 
A. My admin staff called the point of contact. 
  
Q. Called?  
 
A. I believe so, yeah. I think they emailed her, received no response, 

called. 
 
Q. Because Dr. Lauer also testified that during the course of this audit 

they looked at emails with NIAID staff and still never saw any 
evidence that EcoHealth claimed you were unable to submit a 
progress report because the eRA system had locked them out? 

 
A. Well, again, like I said, they may find no email evidence, but we did 

try to submit the report. It did lock us out. I mean, you can't get much 
more clearer than when NIH specifically instructed us to upload it 
immediately, 2-1/2 years later, in a matter of urgency, where they 
knew all about it and were waiting for it, they still couldn't get the 
system to unlock. Clearly that system needs to be fixed.13 

 
 Unfortunately, Dr. Daszak cannot prove these claims and NIH investigated and was 
unable to verify them. Evidence suggests that Dr. Daszak simply failed to upload the Year 5 
Report on time. Dr. Daszak’s excuse as to why lacks credibility because: 
 

1. When resolving grant management issues, EcoHealth and NIAID appear to normally do 
so primarily by email. It strains credulity that EcoHealth would communicate with 
NIAID and NIH exclusively via telephone given their past practices.  
 

2. Emails produced by EcoHealth during this investigation show that EcoHealth continued 
to work on the Year 5 Report after the date at which Dr. Daszak claims he attempted to 
submit the report. These emails make no mention of being locked out.  

 
13 Daszak TI, supra note 7, at 139-141.  
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3. Moreover, Dr. Lauer testified to the Select Subcommittee that NIH conducted an internal 

review of their eReporter system and found no evidence that EcoHealth attempted to 
submit the Year 5 Report prior to August 2021.  

 
4. The Select Subcommittee has repeatedly sought drafts of the Year 5 Report and other 

documents that would corroborate EcoHealth’s version of events. EcoHealth has failed to 
produce much of the requested material, including the drafts. 

  



13 
 

AVOIDING TRANSPARENCY 
 
 Since EcoHealth was flagged by NIAID for experiments that may be dangerous, it was 
required to immediately report to NIAID if any experiments exhibited excessive growth. This 
term was memorialized into EcoHealth’s grant terms and conditions and therefore mandatory.  
 
 After EcoHealth submitted its Year 5 Report, NIH believed that it facilitated an 
experiment at the WIV that violated this condition and thus should have been reported but was 
not subsequently reported.  
 
Finding 2: EcoHealth violated its grant terms and conditions by failing to report a potentially 

dangerous experiment conducted by the WIV.  
 

I. EcoHealth Was Required To Report Experiments That Showed Excessive 
Growth And Failed To Do So.  

 
EcoHealth is required to “monitor the activities of the subrecipient as necessary to ensure 

that the subaward is used for authorized purposes, in compliance with Federal statutes, 
regulations, and the terms and conditions of the subaward . . .”14 As stated in the Notice of 
Award, “[a]cceptance of this award including the ‘Terms and Conditions’ is acknowledged by the 
grantee when funds are drawn down or otherwise obtained from the grant payment system.”15 
Even grantees that function as pass-through entities must monitor the activities of subrecipients, 
including foreign subrecipients, to ensure that subawards are used for authorized purposes in 
compliance with relevant laws and the terms and conditions of the subaward.16   

 
This was particularly true when NIAID identified possible gain-of-function research 

concerns in an experiment proposed by EcoHealth and conducted by the WIV. In a July 7, 2016 
letter to EcoHealth, as a grantee undertaking potentially dangerous gain-of-function experiments, 
NIAID officials advised:  
 

NIAID acknowledges that if any of the MERS-like or SARS-like chimeras 
generated under this grant show evidence of enhanced virus growth greater 
than 1 log over the parental backbone strain, Dr. Daszak will immediately 
stop all experiments with these viruses and provide the NIAID Program 
Officer and Grant Management Specialist, and Wuhan Institute of Virology 
Institutional Biosafety Committee, with the relevant data and information 
related to these unanticipated outcomes.17 

 
 This advisement was memorialized in EcoHealth’s Notice of Award.  
 

 
14 45 C.F.R. § 75.352(d).  
15 NIAID, Notice of Award, EcoHealth Alliance, Grant Number 1R01A1110964-01, Understanding the Risk of Bat 
Coronavirus Emergence (May 27, 2014). 
16 45 CFR § 75.352. 
17 Letter from Erik J. Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of 
Health to Mr. Aleksei Chmura, EcoHealth Alliance (July 7, 2016).  
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 As stated, whether the experiment in question occurred during Year 4 or Year 5 is 
contested by both EcoHealth and NIH. After reviewing the experiment, NIH determined it 
believes there are two separate experiments. According to witness testimony: 
 

Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023) 
 
Q. …That all seems, I think, consistent with what you're describing, 

which is, at this point, which is after the submission of the year 4 
report, neither the NIAID side of things nor it sounds like Dr. Daszak 
understood the one log rule to have been previously implicated. In 
other words, you all sort of were on the same page that year 4 report 
did not show growth greater than one log. Is that right? 

 
A. Yes. That's my best recollection, yes.20 

 
Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024) 
 
Q. It says in the fourth paragraph, the first sentence, "The limited 

experiment described in the final progress report provided by 
EcoHealth Alliance...." Is it your understanding or recollection that 
the experiment in year 5 was different from the experiment in year 
4? 

 
A. That was our conclusion. 
 
Q. Okay. 
 
A. That was our conclusion. Yes.21 

 
Further, Dr. Baric testified that he believes this to be two separate experiments and should 

have been reported to NIAID:  
 

Dr. Ralph Baric (Jan. 22, 2024) 
 
Q. Dr. Baric, you've read the year 5 paragraph now, the in vivo 

infection where five of the seven mice infected with just the WIV1 
backbone survived, but only two of the eight mice infected with 
the WIV1 SHC014.  

 
A. You should be able to do the statistics on that, and it should show 

that there's a statistical difference, which means there was an 

 
20 Stemmy TI, supra note 8, at 106.  
21 Transcribed Interview of Lawrence A. Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D., Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health, at 81 (Jan. 
5, 2024) (hereinafter “Tabak TI”).  
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increase in virulence and the entire review process would have 
been triggered.   

 
Q. So that's --  
 
A. I think, if you did the statistics on those numbers. 
 
Q. That's my question, is that this wouldn't have triggered P3 because 

it's not a human virus.  
 
A. It doesn't matter whether it triggered P3 or not. It triggered the 

regulation that they agreed to in the document to follow.22 
 
 To support Dr. Daszak’s claim that the Year 4 and 5 experiments were the same, he called 
Dr. Shi who assured him. Unfortunately, Dr. Daszak has no record to verify this call or the 
experiment. Dr. Daszak testified: 
 

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023) 
 
Q.  This is 2021. We've had a year of all this controversy. We've had 

the grant canceled. We've had President Trump making his 
statements, Senator Cotton making his statements. And you just 
have this -- you have like a standing -- maybe not a standing call, 
but a call with the WIV, and you ask them, "One experiment or 
two?" "One." "I thought so. It seems like that was the case." And 
there was no further follow-up? 

 
A.  Correct.23 

 
Without verifiable evidence—such as what may be in the NIH requested laboratory 

notebooks that Dr. Daszak has failed to provide—Dr. Daszak’s claim lacks credibility.  
 
  

 
22 Transcribed Interview of Dr. Ralph Baric, Ph.D., Professor, University of N. Carolina, at 181-182 (Jan. 22, 2024) 
(hereinafter “Baric TI”). 
23 Daszak TI, supra note 7, at 146.  
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This definition was confirmed by multiple witnesses interviewed by the Committees: 
 

Dr. Hugh Auchincloss (Dec. 20, 2023) 
 
Q. So, this is the NIH website for gain-of-function research involving 

potential pandemic pathogens, and this version was last updated July 
12, 2021. There has since been a new version, and under the header 
"Gain-of-Function Research" is that definition that I just read to you. 
It does have the qualifier, not all research described as gain-of-
function entails the same level of risk, and I guess one of the kind of 
semantics here is that what a layperson thinks of as gain-of-function, 
I think falls under this definition: Any research that attributes a new 
attribute to a biological agent, whether it's taking avian influenza 
virus that can't infect humans or making it able to infect humans or 
taking a bat Coronavirus that can't infect mice and making it infect 
mice, either of which would qualify as gain-of-function under that 
definition. 

 
Do you agree?   

 
A. I do, and I think that this is making the same points that I've been 

making earlier. There's gain-of-function which is common in 
virology and that's not the same as the gain-of-function research of 
concern.25 

 
 

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024) 
 
Q. …My, kind of, understanding is that there's -- it's a complicated 

definition. There's a lot of different pieces to it. There are pieces that 
NIH regulates; there's pieces that HHS regulates. There are pieces 
that have dual-use problems. So, I'm going to run through each 
definition, and you just tell me if I'm kind of on the right page. The 
high-level gain-of-function, as was defined by NIH: a type of 
research that modifies a biological agent so that it confers new or 
enhanced activity to that agent. 

 
Is that right? 
 

A. It -- as an agent, yes.26 
 
In addition to the above definition, the federal government requires that certain types of 

gain-of-function research receive further oversight and review. In 2014 OSTP determined that a 
 

25 Transcribed Interview of Hugh Auchincloss, M.D., Dep. Dir., Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l 
Insts. of Health, at 100-101 (Dec. 20, 2023) (On file with Select Subcomm. Staff) (hereinafter “Auchincloss TI”). 
26 Tabak TI, supra note 21, at 27.  
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The Year 5 Report describes an experiment in which the WIV infected transgenic mice 
with four different coronaviruses, three of which were chimera or recombinant viruses with 
different spike proteins. The WIV then measured the pathogenicity of the novel laboratory 
created viruses as compared to the control, which was a full-length backbone of WIV1. The 
pathogenicity of the three chimeras was then compared to that of WIV1.  

 
In the experiment, the survival rate of mice infected with WIV1 was 71.4 percent while 

the survival rate of the mice infected with one of the chimeric viruses (WIV1-SHC014) was just 
25 percent. Therefore, the laboratory generated chimera was more pathogenic than the control 
virus and the mice infected with that chimera became sicker.   

 
In the October 20, 2021 letter to Mr. Comer, Dr. Tabak described this experiment and its 

result as “unexpected.”35 Regardless of whether the results were expected or not, it appears this 
experiment would constitute gain-of-function research. This appearance was confirmed by 
witness testimony:  
 

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024) 
 
Q. NIH has said a lot that the experiment in the EcoHealth grant was 

not gain-of-function research, that it didn't qualify. Did NIH mean it 
wasn't ePPP research? 

 
A. It is certainly an example of generic gain-of-function, if that’s what 

you mean.  
 
Q. Yes. So, I'm trying to get at, like, words matter. And using a term 

that has an established definition, "gain-of-function" -- it's on the 
NIH's website –  

 
A. Right. 
  
Q. -- has an established definition, that when people say that what 

EcoHealth did was not gain-of-function research, that's not true. It's 
not gain-of-function research of concern or that HHS would 
regulate. Is that fair?   

 
A. That is fair. And I have always, when asked, tried to make that 

distinction.  
 
Q. All right.  
 
A. Because, as you point out, there's lots of gain-of-function research, 

and, as is written here, however, not all such research entails the 
same level of risk.  

 
35 Letter from Lawrence Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D., Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health to Hon. James Comer, 
Ranking Member, H. Comm. on Oversight & Reform (October 20, 2021). 
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Q. And I agree with that. I'm just –  
 
A. Yeah.  
 
Q. When there's such a -- like, I don't remember the infection count or 

the death toll in 2021. And origins has been such a hot-button issue. 
But, like, when I write things for my bosses that are going to go out 
and speak or if I was prepping someone for congressional testimony, 
I'd want to make sure that they're using the right phrases. And 
whenever we've talked to NIH -- I think I was briefed by you once; 
it might've been on this letter -- maybe outside of that, we've heard 
"NIH did not fund gain-of-function research in Wuhan," period. 
That's, at best, misleading.  

 
A. I have always tried to make sure that whoever is asking the question 

is speaking about gain-of-function research of concern. I can only 
speak for how I'm trying to answer questions of this type. Because 
you're right, words matter.  

 
Q. And I won't harp too long, but just -- you would agree, what's 

described in this letter, what's described in the EcoHealth year 
progress report, would fit the definition -- the broad definition of 
gain-of-function research?  

 
A. The generic, broad description of what gain-of-function is, yes.36 

 
Dr. Ralph Baric (Jan. 22, 2024) 
 
Q. Dr. Baric, you've read the year 5 paragraph now, the in vivo 

infection where five of the seven mice infected with just the WIV1 
backbone survived, but only two of the eight mice infected with the 
WIV1 SHC014.  

 
A. You should be able to do the statistics on that, and it should show 

that there's a statistical difference, which means there was an 
increase in virulence and the entire review process would have been 
triggered. 

 
*** 
 
Q. So, my question is, and we've gotten different answers on 

everything, and it depends on if you're using the P3 definition or 
whatever definition. This reads like gain-of-function to me. 

 
36 Tabak TI, supra note 21, at 95-97. 
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III. Dr. Anthony Fauci, In Testimony To The U.S. Senate, Misled The Public 
Regarding NIH And NIAID Funded Experiments.  

 
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, many scientists and government officials 

categorically denied that taxpayer funds were used for gain-of-function research in Wuhan at the 
WIV. These assertions rested on semantics and the misapplication of understood definitions.  

 
On May 11, 2021, Dr. Fauci testified before the U.S. Senate Committee on Health, 

Education, Labor, and Pensions (HELP).38 At this hearing, Senator Rand Paul (R–Ky.) asked Dr. 
Fauci if gain-of-function research was occurring with NIH funding at the WIV. Dr. Fauci 
categorically denied it three times. The exchanges were as follows: 
 

May 11, 2021 Hearing Before Senate HELP 
 
Senator Paul. Dr. Fauci, do you still support funding of the – NIH funding 

of the lab in Wuhan? 
 
Dr. Fauci. Senator Paul, with all due respect, you are entirely and 

completely incorrect that the NIH has not ever and does not 
now fund gain-of-function research in the Wuhan Institute of 
Virology.  

 
*** 
 
Senator Paul. Will you, in front of this group, categorically say that the 

COVID-19 could not have occurred through serial passage 
in the laboratory?  

 
Dr. Fauci. I do not have an accounting of what the Chinese may have 

done, and I am fully in favor of any further investigation of 
what went on in China. However, I will repeat again, the 
NIH and NIAID categorically has not funded gain-of-
function research to be conducted in the Wuhan Institute of 
Virology.  

 
*** 
 
The Chair. I will allow you to respond to that, and then we will move 

on. 
 
Dr. Fauci. Yes. I mean, I just wanted to say, we – I do not know how 

many times I can say it, Madam Chair. We did not fund 

 
38 An Update From Federal Officials on Efforts to Combat COVID-19: Hearing Before Sen. Committee on Health, 
Education, Labor, and Pensions, 117th Cong. (May 11, 2021).  
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gain-of function research to be conducted in the Wuhan 
Institute of Virology.39 

 
Dr. Fauci’s testimony was, at a minimum, misleading. As established above, at the time 

of Dr. Fauci’s testimony senior NIH officials and the NIH website defined gain-of-function 
research as “a type of research that modifies a biological agent so that it confers a new or 
enhanced activity to that agent.” Further, witness testimony and a plain reading of EcoHealth’s 
research conducted at the WIV using U.S. taxpayer dollars confirm it facilitated an experiment 
that conveyed new or enhanced activity to a pathogen—thus, satisfying the definition of gain-of-
function research.  
 

Dr. Fauci, during his transcribed interview before the Committees, testified:  
 

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024) 
 
Q. When you talk about this issue, this broader issue of gain-of-

function and Wuhan Institute of Virology, publicly -- for example, 
the high-profile exchange with Senator Rand Paul --   

 
A. Right.  
 
Q. -- and if you say that NIH, quote, "has not ever and does not now 

fund gain-of-function research in the Wuhan Institute of Virology," 
is this layman's definition the definition that you are talking about 
in those occasions?  

 
A. No. 
 
Q.  Great. What would you be talking about in those situations? 
 
A. What I was referring to when Senator Paul asked me and I repeated 

multiple times that we were not doing gain-of-function research, no 
-- I said that the NIH sub-award to the Wuhan Institute was not to 
do gain-of-function research. I was referring specifically to the 
operative definition of "gain-of-function" at the time, which is the 
P3CO framework. And the P3CO framework is a policy and a 
framework that came out of a policy guidance from 3 years of 
discussions led by OSTP, the National Academies of Sciences, and 
multiple scientific working groups that came out with a very precise 
definition. And the precise definition was: any experiment that is 
reasonably anticipated to result in the enhancement of a -- and by 
"enhancement," it is meant an increase in the transmissibility and/or 
the pathogenesis of a PPP. And what a PPP is is a potential pandemic 
pathogen. So if you enhance it, it's referred to as "ePPP." So then 

 
39 Id. 
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you ask the question, what is a PPP? And by the regulatory 
definition, it is the following: It is a pathogen that is likely to be 
highly transmissible and spread widely in a population and a 
pathogen that likely will cause a high degree of morbidity and 
mortality in humans. So, when I was asked the question, did the 
grant that was a sub-award to Wuhan  fund experiments that were 
enhanced PPP, that is what I was referring to when I said we  do not 
fund gain-of-function -- gain-of-function according to the strict 
definition, which I refer to as the operative definition of "gain-of-
function." So, when someone asks me, as a scientist, are you doing 
gain-of-function, is that gain-of-function, I always apply it to the 
operative definition of "gain-of-function." 

 
Q. That is very helpful. Thank you for drawing that distinction. And at 

the time of that exchange, it was the P3CO framework. There was 
also a time, I think from 2014 to 2017, when the gain-of-function 
moratorium was the operative policy.  

 
A. Right.  
 
Q. So a similar analysis, I assume, would've been the case for that –  
 
A. Right. 
 
Q. -- period of time.  
 
A. Yes.40 

 
Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024) 
 
Q.  I want to introduce the year 5 progress report as majority exhibit 18. 

And in the nature of time, it's a long report, so I'd ask you not to read 
the whole report, but I'm going to draw your attention to a discrete 
paragraph. It's on page 15 under aim 3.1.  

  
*** 
  
Q. And I believe, and Dr. Tabak has confirmed that in his letter he is 

referring to the experiment outlined in this paragraph. And I'm going 
to -- you have it in front of you, but I'm going to read it in kind of 
layman's terms so it's comprehendible. But, in essence, it says that 
mice were infected with four strains of SARS-related coronaviruses 
with different spike proteins, including full-length recombinant 
virus of 4 SARS-related WIV 1 and 3 chimeric viruses, with the 

 
40 Transcribed Interview of Anthony Fauci, M.D., former Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l 
Insts. of Health, at 47-48 (Jan. 8, 2024) (On file with Select Subcomm. Staff) (hereinafter “Fauci TI”).  
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backbone of WIV 1 and the spike proteins from three other bat 
coronaviruses. So that's what we were just discussing. All four of 
the viruses caused lethal infection in human ACE2 transgenic mice, 
but the mortality rate varied among the four groups. Fourteen days 
post-infection, five out of the seven mice infected with just the WIV 
1 backbone remained alive, while only two out of eight mice 
infected with the SHC014 chimera survived. And the paragraph ends 
with, "These results suggest that the pathogenicity of SHC014 is 
higher than other tested bat SARS-related coronaviruses in 
transgenic mice that express human ACE2." I'll give you a minute 
to read the full version in the progress report. I know I kind of 
summarized it.  

  
A. [Reviewing.] Yeah.   
 
Q. So to me, it sounds like seven mice infected with the full-length 

WIV 1; five survived. Eight mice infected with a chimera of WIV 1 
and SHC014 and two survived. Is that your understanding as well?  

 
A. That's what it says, yeah. 
 
Q. This to me sounds like the experiment that EcoHealth conducted by 

creating a chimera increased the pathogenicity of the underlying 
virus. Is that fair?  

 
A. The underlying virus is WIV.  
 
Q. Correct.  
 
A. And the spike that they put on indicated that the virus was more 

pathogenic than the WIV. 
 
Q. Correct. Is that right? So by replacing the WIV 1 spike with the SHC 

spike – 
  
A. Yes, yes. But, again, you got to put it into context because, again, 

these viruses, when you -- if you -- are you hearkening back to the 
definition of whether –  

 
Q. I'm getting there.   
 
A. Yeah, but then let's go there, okay? The fact is that what was built 

into the scope of the conditions was that if you do get an increase in 
viral load or pathogenesis, you've got to report it or reevaluate it, but 
it still doesn't change the underlying premise that this is not a PPP. 
That's the point. That's the conclusion -- that's the confusion people 
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get. By the operative definition of gain-of-function of concern, even 
with this, this is merely an added going the extra mile that if 
something like this happens you stop and you look at it and discuss 
whether or not to go forward, et cetera. And, to my understanding, 
that even if you do that, this still doesn't change that you're not 
dealing with a virus that's very likely to lead to widespread 
transmission, et cetera, et cetera. So it doesn't change the definition 
or the operative guideline for this experiment, but it tells you, you 
should report this, because that was part of the fail-safe.  

 
Q. And I don't disagree with you that it's not an ePPP –  
  
A. Yeah, right. 
   
Q. -- and it doesn't fall under the P3CO framework. What I think we're 

trying to understand is this was submitted, I mean, well, late, but the 
work was conducted during 2018 for the fiscal year 2018 to 2019 
and the year 5 progress report. At that time, this definition of gain-
of-function was still live on the website of enhancing a biological 
agent. And I guess what I'm trying to understand, and the minority 
talked about it too, is you said what your intent was with Senator 
Paul, that when you said NIH does not now and has not ever funded 
gain-of-function research in Wuhan was that you meant to say or 
you intended ePPP research.  

 
A. I said that before and I'll repeat it again. When I talk about gain-of-

function, I talk about -- a gain-of-function of concern -- I am talking 
about the operative definition of gain-of-function of concern, which 
for me is the P3CO that we've discussed multiple times. 

 
Q. And I agree, again, agree that this experiment did not meet the P3 

definition. Would you agree that it meets that broad definition of 
gain-of-function that was on NIH's website when this research was 
conducted? 

 
A. Again, I don't use the terminology "gain-of-function" because it can 

be very confusing, which was the reason why we went through 3 
years of discussion to avoid the kind of confusion that we're going 
to get into now if we start going back and forth about this. That was 
the whole reason for 3 years of deliberation to establish a regulatory 
guideline based on a guiding policy that led to a framework. So, 
regardless of how you slice it, when I spoke to -- when I responded 
to Doctor -- to Senator Paul, I was referring to the gain-of-function 
research of concern as defined by the P3CO framework.  
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Q. My last question. That hearing was May 11th, 2021. When you 
testified, like -- again, I apologize, but if I was a general C-SPAN 
watcher or watching the news afterwards it obviously became a big 
deal, and I went and I googled NIH gain-of-function research, this 
is what would come up. Do you think you could have -- like, you 
knew that you meant ePPP.  

 
A. Yes. 
 
Q. Do you think you could have been more specific in your answer? 
 
A. Well – 
 
*** 
 
A. I think -- I think in terms of 3PCO, and that's embedded in my mind, 

he didn't appreciate what gain-of-function according to the 
regulatory guidelines are. I was speaking in that term. So he was 
thinking of a different thing. When I spoke to him, I'll stand by my 
statement that when I said we do not do gain-of-function I was 
referring to gain-of-function of concern according to the 3PCO 
guideline, done, full stop. 

 
*** 
 
Q. The last thing I'll say is we interviewed Dr. Tabak on Friday -- it's 

been a long weekend -- and we asked him a similar question. 
"What's described in the EcoHealth year 5 progress report would fit 
the definition -- the broad definition of gain-of-function research?" 
And he answered, "The generic, broad description of what gain-of-
function is, yes." Would you agree with Dr. Tabak? 

 
A. You know, again, we're going in circles, because it's going to get the 

same confusion that the chairman was just talking about. 
 
Q. I'm –  
  
A. Because then, if I say yes, then, "Ah, yes, he says it was gain-of-

function." It is not gain-of-function of concern that is associated 
with the regulatory operative definition of gain-of-function.   

 
Q. No. And I'm entirely willing to stipulate that and stipulate that it 

didn't need to go through the P3CO and it didn't meet the definition 
of ePPP. And I'll end on this, and if it's the same answer it's the same 
answer. But we've asked Dr. Auchincloss this question. We've asked 
Dr. Tabak this question. Both have said that it meets the definition, 
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the broad definition of gain-of-function research. I'm not trying to 
catch you in a trap. I'm not trying to catch you – 

  
A. But the thing is I have been living a life over the last few years of 

getting total distortion of things that I've said and done, and you 
know that. So if you want me to –  

 
*** 
 
Q. You don't need to answer again. I'll take that what you meant is what 
– 
 
A. Right.  
 
Q. And I agree that that is what you meant. I'm not trying to go against 

that. I'm just -- when people read things in black and white and 
words are said, it's hard to distinguish sometimes. 

 
A.  Yes.  
 
Q. Our hour is up, and we can go off the record. Our day is up too.41 
 
[Whereupon, at 6:57 p.m., the interview was recessed, to reconvene at 10:00 
a.m., Tuesday, January 9, 2024.] 

 
Dr. Fauci testified that when he testified before the Senate, he was using the “operative” 

definition of gain of function. Dr. Fauci is an expert. He knew the terms and applicable 
definitions and should have used them appropriately. However, that was not the definition of that 
term used by the NIH at that time. Unfortunately, the website containing that definition was 
unceremoniously removed and that definition deleted the same day the EcoHealth experiment 
was reported to Congress. Dr. Fauci’s testimony to Senator Paul misled the public regarding NIH 
funding of gain-of-function research at the WIV.  
 
  

 
41 Fauci TI, supra note 40, at 219-226. 
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TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION  
 
 In response to allegations regarding EcoHealth’s actions—including concerns that the 
research conducted at the WIV was funded by NIAID and may have started the COVID-19 
pandemic—the NIH began compliance actions regarding the grant. These actions centered 
around both administrative and scientific failures on the part of EcoHealth and resulted in the 
eventual suspension of EcoHealth’s grant and the debarment of the WIV.  
 
Finding 4: NIH may not have known about EcoHealth’s actions without proper intervention 

by former-President Donald Trump and former-White House Chief of Staff Mark 
Meadows. Further, despite suggestions of political persecution against EcoHealth, 
career NIH leadership supported every compliance action taken.  

 
I. The Trump Administration Identified EcoHealth’s Actions And Instructed NIH 

To Remedy It.  
 

A. Grant Termination  
 

On April 17, 2020, during a press conference, former-President Trump identified the 
grant to EcoHealth, and any other grants going to China, as potentially problematic. He said: 
 

Coronavirus Task Force Briefing (Apr. 17, 2020) 
 
Q. Thank you, Mr. President. U.S. intelligence is saying 

this week that the coronavirus likely came from a 
level 4 lab in Wuhan. There’s also another report that 
the NIH, under the Obama administration, in 2015 
gave that lab $3.7 million in a grant. Why would the 
U.S. give a grant like that to China? 

 
THE PRESIDENT:   The Obama administration gave them a grant of $3.7 

million? I’ve been hearing about that. And we’ve 
instructed that if any grants are going to that area — 
we’re looking at it, literally, about an hour ago, and 
also early in the morning. We will end that grant very 
quickly.42 

 
 On April 18, 2020, Dr. Lauer was told by his supervisor, Dr. Tabak, to send a letter to 
EcoHealth that would instruct them to terminate all funding to the WIV.43 Dr. Lauer sent this 
letter the next day, on April 19.44 On April 24, 2020, Dr. Lauer was told by his supervisor, Dr. 

 
42 Remarks by President Trump, Vice President Pence, and Members of the Coronavirus Task Force, Press Briefing, 
The White House (Apr. 17, 2020).  
43 Lauer TI, supra note 12, at 40.  
44 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak, 
Ph.D., et. al., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Apr. 19, 2020).  
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Tabak, to send a letter to EcoHealth terminating its entire grant.45 Dr. Lauer was not involved in 
the discussions or drafting of ether letter and did not have knowledge of how the decision 
originated. Importantly, however, Dr. Lauer agreed with the letters’ content and justifications. He 
testified: 
 

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023) 
 
Q. Did you review the letter before it was sent? 
 
A. Yes. 
 
Q. And did you agree with its contents and the justifications provided 

in it? 
 
A. Yes.46  

 
 Through the Committees’ investigation, evidence discovered suggests that the decision to 
terminate the EcoHealth grant originated from Mr. Meadows. According to Dr. Tabak: 
 

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024) 
 
Q. So like I said, this is Majority Exhibit 7. It's an April 19th, 2020 

letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth and Columbia -- I believe 
Columbia was on there by mistake -- but primarily to EcoHealth, 
notifying EcoHealth that they're not to provide funds to the Wuhan 
Institute of Virology anymore pursuant to a couple regulations and 
OMB provisions. Were you aware of this letter at the time it was 
sent?  

  
A. I was. 
  
Q. Did you have any discussions with anyone about this letter prior to 

it being sent?  
  
A. Yes.  
  
Q. Who? 
  
A. I discussed this letter with Dr. Lauer and I discussed this letter with 

Dr. Collins. I don't know if I discussed it with anyone else.  
  
Q. Do you remember how this -- the drafting process of this letter, how 

it came to be?  

 
45 Lauer TI, supra note 12, at 48.  
46 Lauer TI, supra note 12, at 49.  
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*** 
 
A.  Okay. So this was done with the help of a senior administrative 

official. That's really all I could say.  
 
Q. Can you give me a little bit more generality about that? A grants 

officer? A program officer? Who was the –  
 
A. A senior administrative official. 
  
Q. Who is that?  
 
A. That's –  
 
Q. The who isn't deliberative.  
 
*** 
 
A.  Mr. Charrow. 
 
Q. The Office of General Counsel at HHS? 
  
A. Correct. 
 
Q. All right. Is this the first time or the days preceding this that you 

became aware of efforts to suspend or terminate or otherwise alter 
the EcoHealth grant? 

 
A. I don't remember the dates. I remember the -- but I remember the 

event that was time-sensitive. Former President Trump was to give 
a news conference of some sort, and apparently he wanted to 
articulate that this had been suspended, and so that was the time 
sensitivity. 

  
Q. And who communicated that sensitivity to you? 
 
*** 
 
A.  Mr. Charrow. 
  
Q.  Okay. And do you know who had communicated with Mr. Charrow? 
 
*** 
 
A.  I was told who it was, but I don't have any evidence of who it was. 
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Q.  Who were you told who it was?  
 
*** 
 
A.  Okay. My secondhand knowledge is that it was the White House 

chief of staff. 
 
Q.  Mark Meadows? 
 
A.  Correct. 
 
Q.  Thank you. I want to then -- well, I'm going to summarize the 

timeline then leading up to April 19th without getting into any of the 
discussions of how April 19th happened. Your understanding -- and, 
granted, some of this is secondhand -- is a conversation took place 
between Chief of Staff Meadows and Mr. Charrow, who then had a 
conversation with you, and then you had a conversation with Dr. 
Lauer that resulted in this letter?  

 
*** 
 
A.  That is correct.47 

 
 This sequence of events was confirmed by Dr. Fauci. He testified:  
 

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024) 
 
Q.  This is a letter sent from Dr. Lauer to Drs. Chmura and Daszak from 

April 24th, 2020 -- so 5 days after this one was sent -- that terminates 
the entire grant "Understanding the Risk of Bat Coronavirus 
Emergence." Were you previously aware of this letter? 

 
A.  Let me read it. Hold on. I was aware that the grant was terminated. 

I'm not -- I don't recall this particular letter that I saw at the time. I 
think I was shown -- I don't think I was shown this, but I don't recall 
seeing this letter at the time it was sent.  

 
Q.  You testified in June of 2020 before the House Committee on Energy 

and Commerce. You were asked about this grant and the cancellation 
and said, "Why was it canceled? It was canceled because the NIH 
was told to cancel it. I don't know the reason, but we were told to 
cancel it." Do you have any recollection of who told you to cancel 
it? 

 
47 Tabak TI, supra note 21, at 53-58.  
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*** 
 
Q. All right. I'll relay to you what Dr. Tabak told us was the chain of 

events, and you can just tell me if that's accurate to the best of your 
recollection. Dr. Tabak testified that Chief of Staff Mark Meadows 
called the Office of General Counsel at HHS, who then called Dr. 
Tabak, who then called Dr. Lauer, who was instructed to cancel the 
grant. Is that consistent with your memory? 

 
A. Yes.48 

 
 By April 17, the White House had been reviewing both the EcoHealth grant and other 
grants that involved China to ensure they were in compliance with all applicable grant terms and 
conditions. After this review, Mr. Meadows identified EcoHealth and its subgrant to the WIV as 
being problematic and instructed HHS to first terminate the subaward and then the entirety of the 
grant. Dr. Lauer, the NIH official in charge of grant compliance, testified that he was unaware of 
EcoHealth or that it was out of compliance prior to April 19.49 If not for the actions of the Trump 
Administration, this grantee and grant may have been allowed to continue without proper 
oversight.  
 

B. NIH Compliance Actions  
 

Between April 19, 2020 and April 26, 2023, NIH conducted an investigation into 
EcoHealth’s compliance with its grant terms. This investigation primarily focused on (1) 
EcoHealth’s late Year 5 Report, (2) an experiment that showed excessive viral growth, and (3) 
EcoHealth’s relationship with the WIV. Below is a list of compliance actions levied by NIH 
against EcoHealth. The full letters are attached to this report as supplementary materials. The 
initial two letters (April 19, 2020 and April 24, 2020) were discussed above.  
 

1) April 19, 2020: Letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth 
 

2) April 24, 2020: Letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth 
 

3) May 22, 2020: Letter from Counsel for EcoHealth to Dr. Lauer  
 

4) July 8, 2020:  Letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth 
 

In this letter, Dr. Lauer, because of legal issues surrounding NIH’s decision to terminate 
the full grant on April 24, reinstates and then immediately suspends EcoHealth’s grant. The 
suspension was pending EcoHealth’s answers to a number of questions regarding activities in 
and around Wuhan at the time of the outbreak. NIH witnesses testified they agreed with sending 
this letter: 
 

 
48 Fauci TI, supra note 40, at 211-212. 
49 Lauer TI, supra note 12, at 22.  
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Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023) 
 
Q. And did you believe at the time that NIH had the authority to ask 

these questions -- make these -- let me rephrase. Did you believe at 
the time that NIH had the authority to make these requests of a 
grantee?  

 
A. Yes.  
 
Q. Okay. And is that still your opinion, NIH had the authority to make 

these requests of a grantee?  
 
A. I'm comfortable that, you know, with what was happening at the 

time, the information I had available at the time, that we followed 
appropriate processes.50 

 
Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024) 
 
Q. Did you agree with sending this letter? 
  
A. I did agree with sending it.51 

 
5) August 13, 2020: Letter from Counsel for EcoHealth to Dr. Lauer 

 
6) October 23, 2020: Letter from Dr. Lauer to Dr. Daszak  

 
7) April 11, 2021: Letter from Dr. Daszak to Dr. Lauer  

 
8) April 13, 2021: Letter from Dr. Lauer to Dr. Daszak 

 
9) April 23, 2021: Letter from Dr. Daszak to Dr. Lauer  

 
10) July 23, 2021:  Letter from Dr. Lauer to Dr. Daszak 
 

In this letter, Dr. Lauer identifies that EcoHealth’s Year 5 Report is late for the first time. 
Dr. Lauer writes, “[w]e are also writing to notify you that a review of our records for 
R01AI110964 indicates that EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. is out of compliance with 
requirements…”52 Witness testimony indicates that neither NIH nor NIAID identified this late 
report until this letter was sent:  

 
Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023) 
 

 
50 Lauer TI, supra note 12, at 53-54.  
51 Tabak TI, supra note 21, at 62.  
52 Letter from Dr. Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. Of Health, to Peter Daszak, 
Ph.D., et. Al., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (July 23, 2021).  
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Q. So this is a July 23rd, 2021, letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth. I 
don't know if you're -- you are cc'd. Do you recall this letter going -
- being sent? 

 
A. Just give me 1 minute to flip through. Yes, I think so. 
  
Q. Were you involved in drafting this letter at all? 
 
A. I don't recall being involved in drafting this letter, no. 
 
Q. Primarily in this letter, in addition to a couple other requests, but Dr. 

Lauer informs EcoHealth that at this point they were 22 months late 
on their year 5 progress report. When did you first learn that the year 
5 report was late? 

 
A. I don't remember the exact date when I learned this. It may have 

been with this letter. But because the award was terminated, I wasn't 
doing the normal sort of oversight work that a program officer would 
have done, right. Or notifications weren't coming out as well, so --
53 

 
Dr. Emily Erbelding (Nov. 28, 2023) 
 
Q. While you're flipping through it, this is a letter from Dr. Lauer to 

EcoHealth from July 23rd, 2021. And in it there's a lot, and it 
continues to request in order to review the WIV's records validating 
certain expenditures and monitoring safety and financial specifics. 
But then also on the second page indicates that EcoHealth has not 
submitted their year 5 annual report yet.  

 
*** 
 
Q. "We are also writing to notify you that a review of our records for 

R01 indicates that EcoHealth Alliance is out of compliance with 
requirements to submit the following reports," a financial report and 
then the Interim Research Performance Progress report. 

  
A. Okay. I see the paragraph you're referring to.  
 
Q. Were you involved at all in the drafting of this letter?  
 
A. No.  
 
Q. When did you first learn that the year 5 report was late?  

 
53 Stemmy TI, supra note 8, at 127-128.  
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A. I believe I learned of it when it came in, which was about a month 

after the date on this letter.54 
 

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023) 
 
Q. In this letter, it's also the first time you notify EcoHealth that they're 

now 22 months late on their year-five progress report. Is that 
correct?  

 
A. Yes.  
 
Q. Would that have been consistent with the timing that you testified to 

earlier, that the interim progress report would've come up with the 
year-seven funding?  

 
A. So –  
 
Q. Or was it later than what you would normally see? 
 
A. It's later than what we would normally see, but -- okay. Well, I'll 

answer your question. It's later than what we would normally see. 
 
Q. Okay. When did you learn that the year-five report was late?  
 
A. Shortly before we sent this letter.55 

 
11) October 20, 2021: Letter from Dr. Lauer to Dr. Daszak 

 
12) October 26, 2021: Letter from Dr. Daszak to Dr. Lauer  

 
13) November 5, 2021: Letter from Dr. Lauer to Dr. Daszak 

 
In this letter, Dr. Lauer requests Dr. Daszak produce “original laboratory notebook 

entries” to verify certain experiments and determine if those experiments violated EcoHealth’s 
grant terms and conditions—specifically the condition requiring notification to NIH of any 
experiment that exhibits excessive growth. According to witnesses, EcoHealth should have had 
access to these notebooks: 
 

Dr. Emily Erbelding (Nov 28, 2023) 
 
Q. Thank you. Yes. That's what I was asking. When Dr. Lauer -- he's 

asked for the notebooks a couple times. We've already discussed 

 
54 Erbelding TI, supra note 19, at 96-97.  
55 Lauer TI, supra note 12, at 66.  
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EcoHealth hasn't produced them. And it is EcoHealth's 
responsibility to produce them when requested. Is that correct? 

 
A. [Nonverbal response.]  
 
Q. You have to give an audible answer.  
 
A. Yes. Oh, I'm sorry. Yes.56 

 
Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023) 
 
Q. And, in your opinion, NIH had the authority to ask for those 

notebooks and files?  
 
A. Yes.  
 
Q. And, in your opinion, EcoHealth should've had access to those 

notebooks and files? 
  
A. Yes.57 

 
Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024) 
 
Q. So, at the time of the EcoHealth enforcement actions, it would have 

been a requirement, if NIH requested lab notebooks, for EcoHealth 
to provide them? 

 
A. Yes, it would've been.58 

 
14) November 18, 2021: Letter from Dr. Daszak to Dr. Lauer 

 
In this letter, Dr. Daszak said that, despite the requirement to do so, he does not have 

access to the requested laboratory notebooks. Specifically, Dr. Daszak states, “[w]e do not have 
copies of these, which were created by and retained by the WIV. Nonetheless, I have forwarded 
your letter to the WIV, and will let you know their response soon as the WIV replies to our 
request.”59 It appears Dr. Daszak’s never explicitly requested the notebooks from the WIV, but 
instead simply informed it of the request from NIH: 

 
 
 

 
56 Erbelding TI, supra note 19, at 101.  
57 Lauer TI, supra note 12, at 74.  
58 Tabak TI, supra note 21, at 100.  
59 Letter from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. 
Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Nov. 18, 2021).  
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attribute of President Trump, that when he makes a statement like 
that he normally follows through. 

 
*** 
 
Q. And from what you heard and what you understand, do you believe 

that it was the HHS Secretary making the decision himself at that 
point, or through instructions from the President? 

A. Well, I think President Trump very clearly stated in that press 
conference, "We will end it very quickly." And within a week it was 
ended.  

 
Q. And is this, is your understanding of that formed through public 

reporting and your sort of connecting the dots, or have people 
directly told you that?  

 
A. So all of the above.60 

 
Notwithstanding Dr. Daszak’s testimony, additional testimony regarding the grant 

cancellation is clear – NIH career public health officials supported and did not doubt the actions 
undertaken by NIH and Dr. Lauer. According to top career officials at NIH:61 
 

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023) 
 
Q. All right. Thank you. I'm going to go back and ask some 

questions -- a blanket one I think you touched on, but maybe not 
directly:  Would you sign and send a letter if you did not agree with 
the contents of the letter?   

 
A. No.62 

 
Dr. Hugh Auchincloss (Dec. 20, 2023)  
 
Q. I want to first start by, as you know, NIH Office of Extramural 

Affairs started compliance efforts with regard to EcoHealth in April 
of 2020. Every letter sent by them was sent by Mike Lauer, who 
heads that office.  When he testified in front of us, he said that he 
would not sign and send a letter that he disagreed with. Do you have 
any reason to doubt that assertion?  

 

 
60 Daszak TI, supra note 7, at 203-204.  
61 Lauer TI, supra note 12, at 55; Auchincloss TI, supra note 25, at 147-148; Transcribed Interview of Francis 
Collins, M.D., former Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health, at 145 (Jan. 12, 2024) (On filed with Select Subcomm. Staff) 
(hereinafter “Collins TI”).  
62 Lauer TI, supra note 12, at 55.  
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A. None.63 
 

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024) 
 
Q. So understanding there wasn't, if any, involvement prior to 2020, I'm 

going to shift ahead to the 2020 to present timeframe as it pertains 
to EcoHealth and start with one question. We had a similar interview 
with Dr. Lauer, and he testified at that interview that he would not 
sign or send a letter that he disagreed with. Do you have any reason 
to doubt that assertion?  

 
A. I have no doubt at all about that.64 

 
Dr. Francis Collins (Jan. 12, 2024) 
 
Q. Moving into 2020.  Before we start with individual letters, we asked 

Dr. Lauer and he testified that he would not sign or send a letter that 
he disagreed with. Do you have any reason to doubt that assertion?  

 
A. No.  
 
Q. Do you agree with every enforcement action the NIH took against 

EcoHealth? 
 
A. Yes.65 

 
Dr. Fauci was the only official at the Director or Deputy Director level the Committees 

interviewed who was evasive regarding Dr. Lauer’s integrity. Dr. Fauci testified: 
 

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024) 
 
Q. Okay. I want to shift to a time period a little closer -- it's still 2020, 

but it's at least closer than 2016 -- and ask a blanket question first. 
Dr. Lauer testified that he would not sign or send a letter that he 
disagreed with. Do you have any reason to doubt that assertion?  

 
A. He would not sign –  
 
Q. Or send a letter that he disagreed with.  
 
A. I can't speak for him.66 

 
63 Auchincloss TI, supra note 25, at 147-148.  
64 Tabak TI, supra note 21, at 51.  
65 Collins TI, supra note 61, at 145.  
66 Fauci TI, supra note 40, at 210.  
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 As discussed above, Mr. Meadows instructed HHS and NIH to terminate or suspend the 
grant to EcoHealth because of concerns that arose regarding the WIV and compliance. This 
instruction resulted in a multi-year effort to investigate and oversee EcoHealth’s actions, 
including an investigation led by Dr. Lauer with the support of NIH leadership—notably Dr. 
Collins and Dr. Tabak. Contrary to Dr. Daszak’s testimony and public reporting, the actions 
levied against EcoHealth were not political, but instead supported by facts and evidence and 
executed by career public health officials.   
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REINSTATEMENT  
 

 It is NIH policy to make every possible attempt to return grantees to compliant status. 
However, in the case of EcoHealth, NIH turned a blind eye to potential issues with the 
reinstatement of this grant. Evidence gathered by the Select Subcommittee suggests that Dr. 
Daszak omitted a material fact during the grant reinstatement process—a fact that may have 
changed whether EcoHealth’s grant was reinstated or not. Further, evidence suggests that 
because of Dr. Daszak’s actions, NIH is in violation of the terms of the debarment of the WIV.  
 
Finding: While negotiating the reinstatement of the grant, Dr. Daszak omitted the material 

fact that unanalyzed samples and sequences—that the U.S. paid for—are in the 
custody and control of the WIV. This omission was taken as fact by NIAID and 
NIAID took no steps to verify the actual location of the sequences and samples. If 
Dr. Daszak had not made this omission it would have provoked questions from 
NIAID regarding EcoHealth’s ability to fulfill the aims of the reinstated grant. 
Finally, as a result of Dr. Daszak affirmations, NIH is currently violating the terms 
of the debarment of the WIV.  

 
I. Dr. Daszak Omitted A Material Fact To Secure EcoHealth’s Grant Renewal. 

 
On April 26, 2023, NIAID reinstated EcoHealth’s grant.67 This reinstatement was 

publicly announced by EcoHealth on May 8, 2023.68 In NIH’s notification to Congress, it stated 
that EcoHealth had been organizing and implementing a corrective action plan to satisfy NIH’s 
compliance efforts. NIH’s goal during compliance investigations is to bring the grantee back into 
compliance and to design a corrective action plan to support that outcome. As Dr. Lauer testified 
to the Committees: 

 
Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023) 
 
So, again, our philosophy -- and it's not just a philosophy; it's what's 
grounded in the uniform guidance regulations -- is that, when a recipient is 
out of compliance, the goal is to bring them back into compliance. And we 
can do that, as I said, through a variety of means -- through revising terms 
and conditions of award, through specific award conditions, through a 
corrective action plan. Because, ultimately, what we want is we want the 
recipient to be successful and we want them to be compliant with terms and 
conditions.69 

 
67 See Grant Summary, R01AI110964, USASpending (last accessed Apr. 24, 2024).  
68 EcoHealth Alliance Receives NIH Renewal Grant for Collaborative Research to Understand the Risk of Bat 
Coronavirus Spillover Emergence, ECOHEALTH ALLIANCE, INC. (May 8, 2023).  
69 Lauer TI, supra note 12, at 80.  
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A. That was part of the reason, yes, that we wanted to get the most out 
of existing sequences from prior work. We wanted to get the most 
out of prior work.   

 
Q. What were the other rationales?  
  
A. Well, that they could address a scientific priority of NIAID in 

understanding how pandemics occur. I think that it would be -- that 
they had been scientifically productive in the past. That was another 
part of the rationale for reinstatement. 

 
Q. If you know, at the time of reinstatement, how many samples did 

EcoHealth have access to that remained untested?  
 
A. I don't know the number. 
 
Q. Did EcoHealth -- was it EcoHealth that told you that they had 

samples?  
 
A. They did -- they did give an approximate number. I don't recall what 

it was. 
 
Q. Did they tell you that the samples were in their possession?   
 
A. I believe I asked, You have access to these samples? Do you have 

access to these samples? I think that, to my -- to the best of my 
recollection, that's how I phrased the question. And I got an 
affirmative answer. That was, I think, the conversation.  

 
Q. You asked, do you have access, and they responded yes?  
 
A. This was Peter Daszak. Yes.   
 
Q. There wasn't an elaboration on the yes?   
 
A. I did not ask further questions. I took his representation as truthful.72 

 
 Dr. Erbelding testified that, at the time of the reinstatement, NIAID believed that 
EcoHealth had access to sequences and samples the federal government had previously paid to 
have collected but that had yet to be analyzed. For reasons that are not clear to the Select 
Subcommittee, NIAID apparently never asked EcoHealth where the samples were located. 
Instead, NIAID relied solely on the representations of Dr. Daszak that the samples existed and 
that he had access to them. In reality, EcoHealth was relying on the WIV, an institute debarred 
for failing to produce laboratory notebooks, to provide them with virus samples and sequences 
that were the justification for reinstatement. Dr. Daszak testified: 

 
72 Erbelding TI, supra note 19, at 55-56. 
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Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023) 
 
Q. I have got a few quick questions on the reinstatement. And then one 

circle back on the intelligence community issue. So the reason you 
should know this, but Drs. Lauer and Erbelding gave us a 
congressional briefing a few months ago on the reinstatement and 
some of the decisions and, you know, additional terms put in place. 
One of the reasons -- one of scientific rationales for reinstating the 
grant is that there remains thousands of bat samples collected from 
China with funding basically paid for by the grant before it was 
suspended, but still need to be tested for the presence of the virus. Is 
that still the case?   

 
A. Well, we have new data from China on some of those -- on the 

results from some of those samples. We are currently analyzing it. 
Very important critical data. And yeah, I think it's -- we're getting 
there. It's good to have new information, but there are still many 
samples that we don't have direct control over. 

 
Q. Sure. Who is the custodian for those samples presently?  
 
A. Right now, they are in the Wuhan Institute of Virology. And 

theoretically, a sample collected in a foreign government belongs to 
the foreign government so yeah.  

  
Q. But the WIV has been debarred. They can't participate in this grant?  
  
A. Yeah. And they are not participating in this grant.  
 
Q. But they have custody of all the samples?  
 
A. But we have got information, data from the samples that has not yet 

been analyzed. We have that information here in the U.S.   
 
Q. But the Latinne paper, you said that was all your information? 
 
A. Since the Latinne paper, since the pandemic began, Wuhan Institute 

of Virology's staff has continued to sequence out some of those 
initial small fragments to get whole genome sequences, critical 
information. I agree with what Dr. Erbelding and Stemmy or 
whoever it was has said that that was paid for by U.S. taxpayers. It 
is our right to get that information. We've got it and we're now 
working on it to publish that information.  

 
Q.  Is there information derived from the samples that you don't have?   
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A.  From what I hear, no. Not -- until they do more work on them. And 

then we have an understanding that we'll be able to get some access 
to those data too. 

 
Q. I'm trying to understand how this works. With the WIV debarred, 

and not talking to you anymore, which – 
  
A. Well, they do talk to us. I can talk to them. It's not illegal to talk to 

them.  
 
Q. No, no, no. But you said, like, we've asked them for the progress 

reports, they never answered an email.  
 
A. I asked them for the lab notes.  
 
Q. For the lab notes. 
  
A. Yeah, yeah.  
 
Q. But your -- I'm trying to understand how we have debarred them, 

but we're still paying them to process samples. 
  
A. No, no. There's no money going to Wuhan Institute of Virology at 

all. No money going to China. 
 
Q. So there's a bolus of data that left the WIV before they were suspend 

-- between -- before they were suspended that has yet to be analyzed, 
that has to be analyzed or that need - -  

 
A. My understanding is that the debarment is they are not able to take 

Federal funds, now for 10 years. I think at least that is, what I 
understand, from what the phrase means. They have other samples. 
If they are going to do further work on those samples and they are 
willing to give us that information, that's a positive win for the U.S. 
taxpayer.  

  
Q. Sure.  
 
A. I'm going to take the opportunity and publish it, and I think that's a 

good thing.  
 
Q.  So why do you think the difference? Why do you think the 

difference in the WIV is willing to give you access to the samples, 
the results of tests on these samples but not the laboratory 
notebooks?  
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A.  Well, you would have to ask WIV about that. I'm very delighted that 

we've been able to get that. Information out of WIV and out of 
China. It's a good thing.  

 
Q. And they are, functionally, doing it for free? We may have some 

prior claim on it because the initial sampling was done with our 
money.  

 
A. Yeah, unfortunately, the legalities of ownership are not good and not 

clear in this sort of issue. However, if we can get the data, we're 
going to get it and we're going to work it and we are going to make 
it public and we are going to try and get at much good information 
as we can out of it.73 

 
According to Dr. Erbelding, Dr. Daszak failed to inform NIH that a substantial number of 

samples or sequences—the same samples or sequences that were a primary purpose for 
reinstating EcoHealth’s previously suspended grant—were in the custody and control of the 
WIV, a now debarred organization. It remains unclear how many samples or sequences that the 
federal government paid for still reside at the WIV.  
 
 Since access to sequences and samples was a substantial reason for reinstating 
EcoHealth’s grant, it raises the question of whether NIH would have still reinstated the grant if it 
had knowledge of this issue. According to Dr. Erbelding, if she had that knowledge, it would 
have at least caused her to ask more questions regarding the reinstatement. Dr. Erbelding 
testified:74 
 

Dr. Emily Erbelding 
 
Q. I have one quick follow-up question, and then I'm going to ask some 

more about EcoHealth and their various efforts. If Dr. Daszak had 
told you that samples were still in the custody and control of the 
Wuhan Institute of Virology, would that have changed your calculus 
in reinstating the grant? 

  
A. I think it depends on -- we would have said those samples, we can't 

assume that they're going to be used.  It would have depended upon 
what other samples he did have access to or he did have in other 
locations that were accessible.  

 
Q. So it would have at least prompted some follow-up questions or 

more information?  
 
A. Yes.  

 
73 Daszak TI, supra note 7, at 263-265.  
74 Erbelding TI, supra note 19, at 90.  
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RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 The evidence necessitates immediate action. As part of the Committees’ investigation and 
pursuant to House Resolution 5, the Committees recommend the following actions to be carried 
out either through executive action or legislation.  
 

I. Recommendations Regarding EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. 
 

1. The National Institutes of Health must recommend, and the Department of Health and 
Human Services must initiate suspension and debarment proceedings against EcoHealth 
Alliance, Inc. 
 

2. The National Institutes of Health must recommend, and the Department of Health and 
Human Services must initiate suspension and debarment proceedings against Dr. Peter 
Daszak, President of EcoHealth Alliance, Inc.  
 

3. The Department of Justice should evaluate if Dr. Daszak violated any federal laws, 
including but limited to violations of  
 

i. 18 U.S.C. 1001; or  
ii. 31 U.S.C. 3729-3733.  
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II. Recommendations Regarding The Federal Government. 
 

1. Evaluate whether to remove final approval authority for high-risk virology research 
proposals involving potential pandemic pathogens from NIAID and instead empower an 
independent oversight entity to review, approve, and oversee such experiments. 
 

2. Impose increased transparency requirements for high-risk virology research involving 
potential pandemic pathogens so that NIAID, NIH, and entities like EcoHealth can no 
longer withhold critical information from Congress and the public. 
 

3. Evaluate the allocated funding and resources for the NIH Office of Extramural Research 
to ensure adequate resources to ensure adequate NIH wide grant enforcement and proper 
investigations of grant compliance. 

 
4. Consider whether NIAID should be divided into two institutes, one focusing on 

infectious disease and one focusing on allergies. 
 

5. Evaluate whether NIAID leadership should be subject to term or years of service limits. 
 

6. Evaluate whether the United States needs a single, unified regulatory scheme governing 
gain-of-function and dual use research, regardless of funding source. 
 

7. Consider granting the Director of the NIH or the Secretary of HHS, in consultation with 
the Office of the Director of National Intelligence, authority to immediately suspend, 
pending investigation, a grant determined to be a threat to national security.  

 
8. Incorporate a national security or intelligence community review into the grant making 

process for grants that involve, in any way, countries of particular concern or special 
watch list countries.   
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LIMITATIONS 
 
 The conclusions and supporting evidence contained in this report are limited by the 
cooperation of the various individuals and institutions that the Committees requested documents 
and information from. EcoHealth and HHS have substantially obstructed the Committees ability 
to conduct a fulsome investigation.  

 
HHS has routinely and without valid reason objected to lines of questions posed by 

Committee staff during transcribed interviews. Further, HHS has—without consent of the 
Committees—set the terms of these interviews, often these terms restrict the Committees ability 
to ask all the necessary questions. Finally, HHS has, either by intent or incompetence, produced 
the requested documents and information at an unacceptable pace. This has restricted the number 
of documents in the responsive universe that the Committees had access to while drafting this 
report. 

 
Like HHS, EcoHealth has also delayed and failed to produce all responsive documents 

the Committees requested. Further, the documents provided to the Committees appear to be 
incomplete and lacking specific e-mails contained within larger chains of communications. 
EcoHealth has also acted to affirmatively obstruct the Committees by failing to produce 
documents all together and instead directing the Committees to review unverifiable public 
productions via the Freedom of Information Act.  

 
The actions by HHS and EcoHealth are unacceptable and may require further action. The 

Committees are evaluating the use of the compulsory process.   
  


